Role of toll like receptors in the antibody response to encapsulated bacteria

John R. Schreiber¹

¹The Floating Hospital for Children at Tufts Medical Center and The Department of Pediatrics, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston Massachusetts 02111, USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. The immune response to T cell independent bacterial polysaccharides
 - 3.1. TNFR BAFF and APRIL required for humoral response to polysaccharides
 - 3.2. Ontogeny of BAFF and APRIL receptors
- 4. Toll like receptors and B cell function and differentiation
 - 4.1. TLR presence on B cells
 - 4.2. TLR engagement augments BAFF and April mediated antibody secretion
- 5. The immune response to bacterial polysaccharide protein glycoconjugate vaccines
 - 5.1. Conversion of the T cell independent response to T cell dependent reponse
 - 5.2. Limitations of conjugate vaccines
- 6. Toll like receptor agonists are effective adjuvants for immunity to encapsulated bacteria
 - 6.1. Role of TLR to immunity to intact encapsulated bacteria
 - 6.2. TLR stimulation enhances the antibody response to pure bacterial PS
 - 6.3. TLR agonists are effective adjuvants for bacterial PS glycoconjugate vaccines
 - 6.4. TLR agonists stimulate humoral immunity to non-capsular protein antigens of encapsulated bacteria
- 7. Conclusions
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Encapsulated bacteria are major pathogens in humans. The capsular polysaccharides (PS) of these bacteria are T-independent type 2 antigens, are not processed by antigen presenting cells and do not induce T cell help. PS antigens are poor immunogens in children less than two years, the peak age incidence of encapsulated bacterial infection. The TNF family receptors BAFFR and TACI interaction with the cytokines BAFF and APRIL are essential co-stimulatory factors for humoral responses to PS. Linkage of PS to a carrier protein to make glycoconjugate vaccines, enhances the immune response to PS similar to a T cell dependent antigen. Multiple doses of glycoconjugate vaccines are required to elicit protection, making their use in the developing world problematic. TLR engagement augments BAFF mediated PS antibody responses and TLR ligands serve as adjuvants for induction of anti-PS antibodies either for pure PS or for PS-protein conjugate vaccines. A variety of TLR ligands stimulate increased production of antibodies directed to both PS and protein components of encapsulated bacteria, and glycoconjugate vaccines, suggesting their future role in immunization strategies.

2. INTRODUCTION

Encapsulated bacteria continue to be serious human pathogens causing a variety of invasive infections. Streptococcus pneumoniae, Neisseria meningitidis, and Haemophilus influenzae type b cause sepsis, pneumonia and meningitis. Other pathogenic gram-positive and gramnegative organisms also contain polysaccharide (PS) capsules. These capsules interfere with host defense mechanisms such as complement deposition and opsonization of bacteria for uptake by phagocytes. Antibodies directed against the polysaccharide capsules of most of these organisms are protective against invasive infection. Thus, the major vaccine strategy over the last 50 years has been to utilize capsular PS of these pathogens as vaccines to elicit protective anti-PS antibodies.

T-dependent (Td) protein antigens are processed by B cells, and other antigen processing cells (APC), then antigen-derived peptides are presented to the T cell receptor (TCR) with MHC II. After presentation of the peptide-MHC II complex to the TCR, the B cell is activated by the T cell co-stimulatory molecule CD40L, which is upregulated when the TCR is stimulated releasing various cytokines. B cell interaction with T cells is critical for B

Table 1. Immune characteristics of bacterial polysaccharides

	Pure bacterial polysaccharide	Whole encapsulated bacteria	Polysaccharide-protein conjugate	Zwitterionic polysaccharide
T-independent	+	=	-	-
T-dependent	-	+	+	+

cell antibody responses to protein antigens. The outcomes of this physical interaction are clonal expansion, somatic hypermutation and affinity maturation of the antibody and class switching (1). Unfortunately, most bacterial capsular PS (with the exception of zwitterionic PS) are T independent type 2 antigens (TI), and are not processed and presented by antigen presenting cells, and thus do not engage T cells and do not elicit T cell help. PS antigens stimulate the B cell receptor (BCR) via cross linking in the absence of a second signal from T cells, yielding a relatively muted IgMdominated, low affinity antibody response with little somatic hypermutation, and poor immunological memory (2,3,4). Thus vaccines derived from pure bacterial capsular PS may elicit protective antibodies in healthy adults, but the immunity is not long lasting and does not "boost" with a second immunization. Such vaccines are ineffective in small children whose "immature" B cells do not produce protective antibody titers to TI antigens such as bacterial PS (see below), and have reduced efficacy in the elderly (Table 1).

Recently, new data have shown that the humoral response to bacterial PS is more complex than simply cross linking the BCR followed by low affinity IgM production. In absence of the CD40-CD40L interaction between B cells and T cells that occurs after B cell activation with protein antigens, tumor necrosis family receptors (TNFR) and their ligands, as well as Toll like receptors (TLR), play crucial roles in the host response to PS and intact encapsulated bacteria, and in B cell differentiation and class switch recombination (5-7). These findings have laid the groundwork for new strategies to augment the antibody response to bacterial PS by using ligands that engage TLR.

3. TNFR AND THE ANTI-POLYSACCHARIDE ANTIBODY RESPONSE

3.1. TNFR BAFF and APRIL required for humoral response to polysaccharides

Despite the traditional concept that PS are TI type antigens and relatively "inert" to the mammalian immune system other than cross linking the BCR, the humoral response to PS involves several TNFR and their ligands. TACI (transmembrane activator and calcium modulator) receptor that engages with the cytokines BAFF (B cell activating factor) and APRIL (a proliferation inducing ligand) plays a key role in the production and regulation of antibodies to TI antigens. The ligands BAFF and APRIL bind to TACI, BAFFR and BCMA (B cell maturation antigen) on B cells and regulate B cell survival, activation and isotype switching particularly in the absence of CD40-CD40L signaling from T cells (5-7). BAFF is expressed by monocytes and dendritic cells and binds to BAFFR, BCMA, and TACI. APRIL binds to only TACI and BCMA. Deficiency in BAFF, or abnormality, blockade or absence of the receptor TACI decreases the number of B cells and disrupts humoral immunity to TI antigens including the PS of encapsulated bacteria (6, 9). TACI KO mice, for example, respond with normal antibody production to T dependent antigens (Td) but are unable to make antibodies to TI antigens (4). Similarly, humans with common variable immune deficiency exhibit decreased humoral responses to carbohydrate antigens such as bacterial PS and have a mutation in TACI (5). The TNFR and their BAFF and APRIL ligands are thus a second set of important molecules after the BCR required for the antibody response to TI PS antigens. Finally, multiple doses of pure TI PS vaccines may induce hyporesponsiveness to PS antigens. The explanation for PS-induced hyporesponsiveness has been elusive. Recently, B cell hyporesponsiveness to PS was found in part due to suppressive effects of pure PS on the expression of TACI and BAFFR by PS-specific B cells (8).

3.2. Ontogeny of BAFF and APRIL receptors

Bacterial PS antigens are particularly poor immunogens in young children under the age of 24 months, the peak age incidence of invasive infections with the encapsulated bacterial pathogens. The explanation for the poor immunogenicity of polysaccharides in infants remains incompletely elucidated. Recent data show that under expression of TACI and BAFFR by B cells plays a key role in both humans and mice in the neonatal hyporesponsiveness to PS antigens (9,10). B cells obtained from cord blood of preterm human infants, for example, expressed significantly less TACI, BCMA and BAFFR compared to adult B cells, and exhibited a marked decrease in immunoglobulin secretion compared to both term baby and adult B cells. These B cells also could not proliferate as well as adult B cells when stimulated with human recombinant BAFF (10). Similarly, TACI expression was dramatically reduced on B cells from newborn mice compared to adult mice, and BAFF and APRIL were unable to induce immunoglobulin secretion in newborn B cells (9). In addition, although BAFF and APRIL were capable of stimulating plasma cell development in adult B cells, this did not occur with the neonatal B cells that expressed low quantities of TACI (9). Thus, the "immaturity" of infant B cells thought to cause hyporesponsiveness to bacterial PS is due at least in part to under expression of TNFR required for TI antibody responses. Bacterial PS antigens are also weak immunogens in the elderly, perhaps due to senescence of both B cell proliferative activity and T cell help. There are scant data on the expression and function of TNFR in the elderly.

4. TOLL LIKE RECEPTORS AND B CELL FUNCTION AND DIFFERENTIATION

4.1. TLR presence and effect on B cells

The TLR family of proteins is crucial to the innate immune response to pathogens. TLR are engaged by molecules present in microorganisms and mediate the activation of several nuclear transcription factors via

adaptor proteins such as MyD 88. The transcriptional activation of genes yields the production of a variety of pro inflammatory cytokines and up regulates receptors responsible for cell-cell immunological interactions. TLR are now also known to be instrumental in the regulation of antibody production but in a complex manner that depends on the maturational stage of the B-cell. TLR were initially thought to be absent or poorly expressed on B cells. However, we now know that human memory B cells and plasma cells express TLR. The ontogeny of TLR expression has been partially elucidated. Human hematopoietic stems cells express mRNA of TLR 1-9. Naïve B cells, however, do not express mRNA of TLR3, 4 8. and have very low surface expression of the TLR, while plasma cells do express mRNA of TLR1-9 (11). Although naive B cells have low or undetectable TLR expression, expression of TLR9, for example, is rapidly increased after the BCR is cross-linked (12). In order to obtain the most robust proliferation and differentiation of naïve B cells, BCR signaling, cognate T cell help and TLR stimulation all need to occur. These requirements prevent polyclonal activation of naïve B cells when TLR are engaged by intact bacteria, since only antigen specific B cells will be fully activated. Antigens such as PS that are not processed and presented to T cells, however, will also not elicit optimal activation of naïve B cells even in the presence of TLR engagement since cognate T cell help is not available. In contrast, human memory B cells constitutively express TLR2, (9,10,12) and TLR10 (11-13). Interestingly, human B cells do not express TLR4 rendering the cells unresponsive to LPS, although plasma cells have been found to express mRNA of TLR4 (11). Mouse B cells by contrast, have different patterns of TLR expression compared to human B cells, constitutively express TLR4, and LPS induces proliferation, class switch recombination and cytokine production (14). TLR stimulation of B cells may also be important during the initial exposure to PS antigens. Marginal zone (MZ) B cells and B1 B cells in the spleen generate a robust IgM response to TI PS antigens within hours after exposure. These cells give rise to plasmablasts and plasma cells with a more mature antibody response. Anti-IgM signals, however, are not sufficient to elicit optimal MZ and B1 B cell proliferation after initial PS antigenic exposure. TLR engagement also may be required particularly with intact bacteria (15,16). Neonatal MZ B cells in addition to under-expression of TACI, also have reduced expression of CD21 compared to adult MZ cells resulting in decreased responses to complement fragments and reduction in other "second" signals required for proliferation after BCR cross-linking (17).

4.2. TLR engagement augments BAFF and April mediated antibody secretion

Differentiation of naïve B cells involving class switch recombination and antigen-specific antibody production is now known to require integration of several receptors including the BCR, TNFR, and TLR. TLR engagement plays a crucial role to interact in a dynamic process with TNFR that is integral to the antibody response to bacterial PS, and is probably the molecular basis for TLR synergy with BCR activation (18,19). *In vitro* or *in vivo* exposure of newborn mouse B1 B-cells to the TLR9

engager CpG oligo-deoxynucleotide (CpG), for example, upregulates TACI expression on the neonatal B cells, renders them more responsive to BAFF and APRIL and increases their ability to produce IgA and IgG (9). Thus, TLR9 stimulation in mice corrects the under-expression of TACI on neonatal B cells, allowing increased immunoglobulin production. Similarly, CpG increases adult mouse B cell surface expression of BAFFR and TACI and augments the co-responsiveness to BAFF with increased proliferation and induction of IL-6 and Il-10 (18). CpG also can reverse the suppressive effects of pure PS on TACI and BAFFR expression, suggesting utility as an adjuvant for pure PS vaccines (8; see section 6.2 below). CpG and LPS increase the expression of TACI on follicular and marginal zone B cells, and increases their immunoglobulin secretion in response to BAFF and APRIL (20). MALP-2 a TLR2/6 agonist, also directly promotes activation and maturation of murine B cells and increases expression of molecules crucial to B cell T cell cross stimulation (21). Other TLR ligands such as Poly (I:C), a synthetic double stranded RNA that engages TLR3, enhances the TI antibody response by increasing the magnitude and speed of IgG antibody production by inducing type 1 interferon production (22). Finally, humans with common variable immune deficiency, some of whom have mutations in TACI, have B cells with markedly reduced activation in response to extracts of pneumococcus and H. influenzae type b and also show a defective response to TLR9 engagement. Thus, their significant hyporesponsiveness to TI antigens occurs due to either defective CpG upregulation of TACI and/or defective TACI production (2), showing the importance of TLR9 to the TI humoral immune response.

5. THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO BACTERIAL POLYSACCHARIDE PROTEIN GLYCOCONJUGATE VACCINES

5.1. Glycoconjugate vaccine strategy

Covalent linkage of the PS to protein carrier molecules to make glycoconjugate vaccines improves the immunogenicity of PS in infants and children. Glycoconjugate vaccines perform more like Td antigens, and repeated immunizations induce a protective PS-specific memory response via induction of CD4⁺ T cell help and cytokine production (24). In addition, MHC class II-TCR, B7-CD28 and CD40-CD40L interactions between B cells and T cells are crucial to the enhanced PS specific antibody response (25). The mechanism of the enhanced PS-specific immunity of glycoconjugate vaccines includes antigen processing of the conjugate, presentation of carrier protein derived peptides to T cells, engagement of the TCR and cytokine production leading to clonal expansion of PSspecific B cells. However, the role of the PS attached to the protein carrier may be more complex than only being bound to the BCR of a PS-specific B cell. The PS in addition to the carrier protein, transits the APC and is expressed on the APC surface in association with MHC II (26). The efficiency of antigen processing of the conjugate vaccine may affect immunogenicity and the quality of T cell help, and improving antigen processing may be an adjuvant target (26). The precise mechanism by which the

PS is rendered more immunogenic by linkage to a protein, however, remains poorly defined. Glycoconjugate vaccines that use the capsules of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib), multiple serotypes of pneumococcus and of meningococcus covalently linked to carrier proteins, have proved remarkably safe and efficacious in the prevention of invasive disease from these pathogens (27-29). These PS-protein conjugate vaccines elicit high affinity anti-PS antibodies that are the result of clonal expansion of PS-specific B cells and somatic hypermutation, which does not occur with immunization of pure PS (4).

5.2. Limitations of glycoconjugate vaccines

Unfortunately, multiple doses of bacterial conjugate vaccines are required to induce protection. rendering the vaccines problematic in the developing world. The Hib conjugate vaccine was relatively simple since there was only one pathogenic serotype of the encapsulated Haemophilus influenzae type b, and one conjugate vaccine to be made to protect against infection. Since there are dozens of pathogenic serotypes of pneumococcus, current pneumococcal glycoconjugate vaccines rely on the separate purification of each serotype specific capsule, which is then separately conjugated to carrier protein. The first generation of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine contained seven serotypes, each capsule separately conjugated to CRM₁₉₇. These serotypes were chosen due to their frequent prevalence in the United States (30). Although highly successful in the United States in reducing invasive pneumococcal infections in infants and children, infections with replacement serotypes not present in the vaccine became an increasing problem (31). In addition, dominant serotypes that caused invasive disease in the United States did not always match those serotypes prevalent in other parts of the world. Several vaccine companies increased the number of serotypes contained in the vaccine. The current formulation in the United States contains 13 different serotypes, each capsule separately purified and chemically linked to CRM197 carrier protein. Thus pneumococcal glycoconjugate vaccines particularly expensive to manufacture. Finally, the elderly respond poorly to pure PS vaccines such as pneumovax, and the use of better vaccines to prevent pneumococcal infections would be of high clinical utility and may hold advantages over pure PS vaccines (32-34). The explanation for the mediocre response of the elderly to PS remains unclear. Antibody repertoire appears to remain intact, yet antibody titers to immunization with PS are lower than that achieved in healthy young adults (32). There are remarkably few data on B cell expression of TNFR or TLR in the elderly, although aged mice express significantly less TLR on splenocytes than young mice (35). Conjugate vaccines may offer a significant advantage to plain PS vaccines in the elderly but results obtained from immunization of elderly populations have been inconsistent (36, 37). Adjuvants that enhance immunogenicity with fewer doses in infants and the elderly would be of strong utility for the design of second-generation glycoconjugate and may include TLR agonists.

6. TLR STIMULATION ENHANCES THE ANTIBODY RESPONSE TO ENCAPSULATED BACTERIA

6.1. Role of TLR to immunity to intact encapsulated bacteria

TLR appear to be crucial to the host's initial defense against encapsulated bacteria, and to the subsequent immune response after challenge. The presence of MyD 88 but not TLR2 is required for normal cytokine responses after challenge with live Streptococcus pneumoniae (28). Both MyD 88 and TLR2 KO mice, however, have defective antibody responses to intact pneumococcus. MyD88 and TLR2 KO mice exhibited defects in production of IgG3, 2b, 2a but not IgG1 to immunization with intact organisms (38). The defect in antibody production also encompassed protein antigens present on the whole organism such as PspA in the TLR 2 KO mice. Although a second immunization with heat-killed organisms boosted the antibody responses to PC and PspA in TLR2 KO mice, no further increase in titer to anticapsular PS occurred. Thus, TLR2 and its co-receptors TLR1 and 6 and MyD 88, perhaps mediating other TLR signals, are critical to the normal humoral response to intact pneumococcus.

A more detailed study found that the murine response to pneumococcal PC antigen which is TI but is optimized when CD4⁺ T cells are available, showed that absence of TLR2 greatly affected IgG3 (Td) but not IgM (TI) production. Thus, expression of TLR2 on both B-cells and CD4⁺ T cells is important for the antibody response to various components of intact pneumococcus (39).

$6.2.\ TLR$ stimulation enhances the antibody response to pure bacterial PS

Since bacterial PS are known to be poor immunogens particularly in infants, utilization of TLR agonists as adjuvants to enhance the antibody responses poses a potential solution to the problem. Given the strong immunomodulatory effects of many TLR ligands, and their ability to influence B cell activation and BAFF and APRILmediated antibody secretion, TLR are logical targets for use of adjuvants with PS vaccines. Unmethylated CpG oligodinucleotides (CpG ODN), despite being directly mitogenic for B cells, were found to suppress the mouse anti-PS antibody response to the purified O-specific side chain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa when administered simultaneously with the PS (40). In contrast, CpG ODN when used 48 hours after PS immunization enhanced the anti-pneumococcal PS antibody response and increased the numbers of PS-specific antibody secreting cells (ASC). Enhancement of the humoral response to the PS was also seen when CpG ODN were administered 2 days after PS immunization of infant mice normally unable to mount a protective antibody response to pneumococcal PS (41). Protection against challenge with a lethal dose of pneumococcus was also significantly improved by using CpG ODN 2 days after PS immunization. Similar results were seen when different TLR agonists targeting TLR2/6, TLR3, TLR4 and TLR5 were administered 2 days after pneumococcal immunization. Interestingly, administration of any of the TLR agonists with PS vaccine

did not yield enhanced anti-PS antibody titers or protection as reported with pseudomonas O-specific side chain. The reason for the failure of co-administration of CpG and other TLR agonists and PS to yield enhanced PS-specific antibody production in these experimental animal models remains unclear. By contrast, contamination of pure pneumococcal PS vaccines with non-LPS TLR ligands may be important for immunogenicity. Commercially available 23-valent pneumococcal PS vaccine contained TLR2 activity that was crucial to immunogenicity (16). Phenol extraction removed the enhanced immunogenicity as did use in TLR2 KO mice. Taken as a whole, these data further support the concept that TLR co-stimulation is an important component of the immune response to TI antigens such as bacterial PS, and that utilization of TLR agonists may improve immunogenicity of PS. Clearly more work is required to determine timing of administration, TLR specificity and dose of TLR agonists as adjuvants to unconjugated PS vaccines.

6.3. TLR agonists are effective adjuvants for encapsulated bacterial glycoconjugate vaccines

The first commercially successful glycoconjugate vaccine utilized the purified capsular PS of Hib linked to CRM₁₉₇, a nontoxic mutant protein of diphtheria toxin (42). However, different pharmaceutical companies subsequently used a variety of different protein carriers in order to make Hib glycoconjugate vaccines. Unlike most glycoconjugate vaccines, the Hib vaccine in which the PS was covalently linked to the outer membrane protein complex of Neisseria meningitidis (OMPC) elicited protective anti-PS antibody titers after one dose in most human infants (43). Previous data showed that OMPC was mitogenic for B cells and contained porin proteins that that were TLR2 agonists (44). Although the enhanced PS-specific immunogenicity of Hib-OMPC was initially assumed to be a characteristic of antigen processing and induced T cell help by the carrier proteins OMPC, subsequent studies showed that both unconjugated and conjugated OMPC were robust human and mouse TLR2 agonists (45). Hib-OMPC engaged TLR2 in a MvD88 dependent fashion and enhanced TNF release by dendritic cells. The Hib-OMPC was significantly less immunogenic in TLR2 KO mice showing that the enhanced immunogenicity was dependent on TLR2 engagement (45). No other Hib conjugate vaccines tested engaged any TLR, also suggesting that the unique immunogenicity in humans after one dose was a result of the TLR2 engagement. We do not yet know whether the use of a TLR2 engaging carrier protein such as OMPC provides longer-lasting immunity to Hib compared to other Hib conjugate vaccines. To date, the Hib-OMPC vaccine appears to elicit long-lived immunity to Hib, similar to that obtained with other Hib conjugate vaccines.

Since OMPC and TLR2 engagement enhanced the kinetics of the induction of protective anti-PS antibodies when conjugated to Hib PS, it seemed likely that OMPC and TLR2 engagement could enhance the anti-PS antibody response to other conjugated bacterial PS. The addition of OMPC to the seven-valent pneumococcal-CRM₁₉₇ glycoconjugate vaccine significantly enhanced anti-PS antibody titers in mice. In addition, OMPC- treated

mice made significantly more IgG3 anti-pneumococcal PS antibodies, the isotype associated with strong antiencapsulated bacterial opsonic function, and the dominant isotype made in mice (analogous to IgG2 in humans) to TI antigens such as PS (46-49). Finally, the enhancement of anti-pneumococcal PS antibodies was associated with increases in splenocyte production of IL2, 4, 10 and TNF alpha (46). Since both Hib-OMPC and the pneumococcal-CRM₁₉₇ conjugate vaccine are licensed for use in human infants in the US, and since both Hib glycoconjugates and the pneumococcal glycoconjugate are given at the same time to infants, it may be possible to determine if the infants receiving HIB-OMPC have increased titers of antibody to pneumococcal capsular PS. In addition, since Hib-OMPC has been administered to many thousands of infants without significant problems, it seems clear that a TLR2 agonist is a safe and effective adjuvant for this bacterial polysaccharide in humans.

Engagement of other TLRs besides TLR2, also show promise as adjuvants for bacterial PS glycoconjugate vaccines. CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (TLR9) significantly increased the anti-pneumococcal PS antibody response to types 6B and 19F pneumococcal-CRM₁₉₇ glycoconjugate vaccines. Total anti-PS antibody titers were enhanced, as well as production of IgG2a and especially IgG3 (50).

Interestingly, the incidence of pneumococcal infection increases in the elderly, and the elderly have mediocre antibody responses to pure PS bacterial vaccines as noted previously (Section 5.2; 33,37). A variety of defects in aged mice parallel that seen in humans, and include decreased quantity and avidity of anti-PS antibodies, and decreased somatic hypermutation and plasma cell production. Indeed, conjugate vaccines, much as in elderly humans, show little advantage in aged mice compared to pure PS vaccines. The use of CpG in the aged mouse was found to significantly improve the production of anti-pneumococcal PS antibody responses to a type 14 pneumococcal-PspA glycoconjugate vaccine, and the IgG anti-type 14 PS antibody response was restored to young adult levels (51).

Taken together, the above findings suggest that future studies in humans will be important to conclusively determine the efficacy of TLR agonists as adjuvants for glycoconjugate vaccines and to reduce the number of doses required for protection against invasive infection by encapsulated bacteria in infants. Use of TLR agonists with glycoconjugate vaccines may also have benefits in the elderly human population, rendering improved immunity to pneumococcus after immunization.

6.4. TLR agonists improve humoral immunity to noncapsular protein antigens of encapsulated bacteria

Due to the challenges with immunogenicity of pure PS vaccines as well as the cost and frequency of administration of glycoconjugates described above, a variety of investigators have utilized non-capsular protein components of encapsulated bacteria as potential vaccines. *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B, for example, contains a

capsular PS that is poorly immunogenic even when conjugated to a protein, and which may cross react with human nervous tissue. Since meningococcal LPS is highly toxic, LPS-deficient, non-toxic outer membrane proteins have been utilized as experimental vaccines. Unfortunately, these antigens have mediocre immunogenicity and weak generation of bactericidal antibodies when the LPS is removed. Stimulation of TLR 3, 7 and 9 with TLR agonists was found to enhance the production of antigen specific IgG and significantly increase bactericidal titers compared to experimental vaccines that used outer membrane proteins alone (52). Several of the TLR agonists were much less toxic than LPS appeared to be safe potential adjuvants for this vaccine.

A more complex story emerges in terms of TLR 2 stimulation and the human antibody response to the pneumococcal protein antigen PspA. Bacterial lipoproteins known to engage TLR 2 (BLPs) augmented the production of anti-pneumococcal antibodies in naïve B cells via CD4⁺ T cell activation and augmented B cell proliferation. In contrast, TLR stimulation down regulated memory T cells and the subsequent antibody response in cells from children already colonized with pneumococcus (53). These data suggested that BLPs promoted naïve B cell responses in children, but reduced antibody responses where B cell memory responses existed. Since the antibody responses to these pneumococcal proteins are dependent on CD4⁺ T cells, BLPs also may downregulate the proliferation of memory CD4⁺ T cells resulting in a blunted memory antibody response due to decreased stimulation of T cells. Clearly further work is required to investigate these findings.

7. CONCLUSIONS

Encapsulated bacteria continue to be major pathogens in humans, particularly in infants and the elderly. Antibodies to the capsular PS are usually protective, but the TI nature of these PS, yield poor immunogenicity in infants and the elderly, the two human populations at highest risk of invasive infection with these organisms. Conjugation of the bacterial PS to protein carriers yields glycoconjugate vaccines with improved ability to generate protective levels of anti-PS antibodies in infants. These vaccines, however, require multiple doses and are expensive to manufacture, and may not have an advantage in the elderly, another target population for immunization. One mechanism to improve glycoconjugate vaccine protective efficacy is to utilize carrier proteins that also are antigens from pathogens. Pneumococcal capsular PS, for example, have been coupled with surface proteins as well as heat shock proteins as an alternative mechanism to induce T cell help and anti-pathogen antibodies against non-PS epitopes (54, 55). Others have linked pneumococcal PS to proteins from different pathogens such as protein D from non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae in an effort to prevent infections from related pathogens that colonize and infect the upper respiratory tract and cause otitis media (56). Since conjugation to the carrier protein is usually via random linkage, site directed conjugation also holds promise as a way to increase the density of peptides after the conjugate is processed by an antigen processing cell in order to derive more robust T cell help.

Another mechanism to improve immunogenicity and to reduce the number of doses of vaccine required to achieve protection will involve effective adjuvants. New information shows strong linkage between TNFR stimulation, TLR engagement, T cell help and activation and expansion of PS-antibody producing B cells. Thus, the use of TLR agonists, particularly TLR2 and 9 as adjuvants to increase anti-PS antibody production is logical based on these data showing direct regulation and or co-stimulation of the humoral response to PS via these TLR. Utilization of TLR agonists in experimental animal models shows promising efficacy in increasing both plain PS and glyconjugate-induced antibody titers to bacterial PS. Finally, one glycoconjugate vaccine with enhanced immunogenicity already used in human infants, the Hib-OMPC vaccine, contains a carrier protein that is a robust TLR2 agonist, suggesting that further use of TLR agonists to enhance antibody titers to bacterial PS in humans may be highly effective and safe. Indeed, recent animal data suggest that using this TLR2 agonist with existing pneumococcal conjugate vaccines significantly increases the anti-PS antibody titer (46).

8. REFERENCES

- 1. David Mills, John Cambier: B lymphocyte activation during cognate interactions with CD4+ T lymphocytes: molecular dynamics and immunologic consequences. *Seminars in Immunol* 15, 325-329 (2003)
- 2. James Mond, Quirijin Vos, Andrew Lees, Clifford Snapper: T cell independent antigens. *Curr Opin Immunol* 7,349-354 (1995)
- 3. Katherine Stein: Thymus-independent and thymus-dependent responses to polysaccharide antigens. *J Infect Dis* 165, Suppl 1, S49-S52 (1992)
- 4. Elizabeth Adderson, Penelope Shackelford, William Carroll: Somatic hypermutation in T-independent and T-dependent immune responses to *Haemophilus influenzae* type b polysaccharide. Clin Immunol Immunopath 89, 240-246 (1998)
- 5. Emanuela Castigli, Stepehn A. Wilson, Lilit Garibyan, Rima Rachid, Francisco Bonilla, Lynda Schneider, Raif Geha: TACI is mutant in common variable immunodeficiency. *Nature Genetics* 37, 829-834 (2005)
- 6. Gotz-Ulrich von Bulow, Jan M. van Deursen, Richard J. Bram: Regulation of the T-independent humoral response by TACI. *Immunity* 14, 573-582 (2001)
- 7. Emanuela Castigli, Stephen A. Wilson, Sumi Scott, Fatma Dedeoglu, Shengli Xu, Kong-Peng Lam, Richard J. Bram, Haifa Jabara, Raif Geha: TACI and BAFF-R mediate isotype switching in B cells. *J Exp Med* 201, 35-39 (2005)

- 8. Sunita Kansal, Nora Katsenelson, Windy Allman, Kadriye Uslu, Milan Blake, Mustafa Akkoyunlu: Suppressive effect of bacterial polysaccharides on BAFF system is responsible for their poor immunogenicity. *J Immunol* 186, 2430-2443 (2011)
- 9. Sunita Kanswal, Nora Katsenelson, Angamuthu Selvapandiyan, Richard J. Bram and Mustafa Akkoyunlu: Deficient TACI expression on B lymphocytes of newborn mice leads to defective Ig secretion in response to BAFF and APRIL. *J Immunol* 181, 976-990 (2008)
- 10. Kulwant Kaur, Shimul Chowdhury, Neil Greenspan and John R. Schreiber: Decreased expression of tumor necrosis factor family receptors involved in humoral immune responses in preterm neonates. *Blood* 110, 2948-2954 (2007)
- 11. Marcus Dorner, Simone Brandt, Marianne Tinguely, Franziska Zucol, Jean-Pierre Bourquin, Ludwig Zauner, Christoph Berger, Michele Bernasconi, Roberto Speck, David Nadal: Plasma cell toll-like receptor (TLR) expression differs from that of B cells, and plasma cell TLR triggering enhances immunoglobulin production. *Immunol* 128, 573-579 (2009)
- 12. Nadia Bernasconi, Nobuyuki Onai, Antonio Lanzavecchia: A role for toll-like receptors in acquired immunity: up regulation of TLR9 by BCR triggering in naïve B cells and constitutive expression in memory B cells. *Blood* 101, 4500-4504 (2003)
- 13. Claudia Ruprecht, Antonio Lanzaveccia: Toll-like receptor stimulation as a third signal required for activation of human naïve B cells. *Eur J Immunol* 36, 810-816 (2006)
- 14. Isabelle Bekeredjian-Ding, Gaetan Jego: Toll-like receptors—Sentries in the B cell response. *Immunol* 128, 311-323 (2009)
- 15. Flavius Martin, Alyce Oliver, John Kearney: Marginal zone and B1 B cells unite in the early response against T-independent blood-borne particulate antigens. *Immunity* 14, 617-629 (2001)
- 16. Goutam Sen, Abdul Khan, Quanyi Chen, Clifford Snapper: *In vivo* humoral immune responses to isolated pneumococcal polysaccharides are dependent on the presence of associated TLR ligands. *J Immunol* 175, 3084-3091 (2005)
- 17. A Zandvoort, W Timens: The dual function of the splenic marginal zone: essential for the initiation of anti-TI-2 responses but also vital in the general first line defense against blood-borne pathogens. *Clin Exp Immunol* 130, 4-11 (2002)
- 18. Lai Guan Ng, Chee-Hoe Ng, Blanche Woehl, Andrew Sutherland, Jianxin Huo, Shengli Xu, Fabienne Mackay, Kong-Peng Lam: BAFF costimulation of Toll-like receptor activated B-1 cells. *Eur J Immunol* 36, 1837-1846 (2006)

- 19. Egest Pone, Hong Zan, Jinsong Zhang, Ahmed Al-Qahtani, Zhenming Xu, Paolo Casali: Toll-like receptors and B-cell receptors synergize to induce immunoglobulin class-switch DNA recombination: Relevance to microbial antibody responses. *Crit Rev Immunol* 30, 1-29 (2010)
- 20. Nora Katsenelson, Sunita Kanswal, Montserrat Puig, Howard Mostowski, Daniela Verthelyi, Mustafa Akkoyunlu: Synthetic CpG oligodeoxynucleotides augment BAFF- and APRIL-mediated immunoglobulin secretion. *Eur J Immunol* 37, 1785-1795 (2007)
- 21. Stefan Borsutzky, Karsten Kretschmer, Pablo Becker, Peter Muhlradt, Carsten Kirschning, Siegfried Weiss, Carlos Guzman: The mucosal adjuvant macrophageactivating lipopeptide-2 directly stimulates B lymphocytes via the TLR2 without the need of accessory cells. *J Immunol* 174, 6308-6313 (2005)
- 22. Cristina Swanson, Timothy Wilson, Pamela Strauch, Marco Colonna, Roberta Pelanda, Raul Torres: Type I IFN enhances follicular B cell contribution to the T cell-independent antibody response. *J Exp Med* 207, 1485-1500 (2010)
- 23. Danilo Escobar, Jaime Pons, Antonio Clemente, Julio Iglesias, Veronica Regueiro, Jose Bengoechea, Nuria Matamoros, Joana Ferrer: Defective B cell response to TLR9 ligand (CPG-ODN), *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Haemophilus influenzae* extracts in common variable immune deficiency. *Cellular Immunol* 262, 105-111 (2010)
- 24. Kulwant Kaur, Christopher King, Neil Greenspan, H. Lester Kirchner, John Schreiber: Immunization with *Haemophilus influenzae* type b-CRM₁₉₇ conjugate vaccine elicits a mixed Th1 and Th2 CD4⁺ T cell cytokine response that correlates with the isotype of antipolysaccharide antibody. *J Infect Dis* 184, 931-935 (2001)
- 25. Hilde-Kari Guttormsen, Arlene Sharpe, Anil Chandraker, Anne Karin Brigtsen, Mohammed Sayegh, Dennis Kasper: Cognate stimulatory B-cell-T-cell interactions are critical for T-cell help recruited by glycoconjugate vaccines. *Infect and Immun* 67, 6375-6384 (1999)
- 26. Zeng Zu Lai, John Schreiber: Antigen processing of glycoconjugate vaccines; the polysaccharide portion of the pneumococcal CRM₁₉₇ conjugate vaccine co-localizes with MHC II on the antigen processing cell surface. *Vaccine* 27, 3137-3144 (2009)
- 27. Steven Black, Henry Shinefield, Bruce Fireman, Robert Hiatt, Michael Polen, Eric Vittinghoff: Efficacy in infancy of oligosaccharide conjugate Haemophilus influenzae type b (HbOC) vaccine in a United States population of 61,080 children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 10, 97-104 (1991)
- 28. Margaret Rennels, Kathryn Edwards, Harry Keyserling, Keith Reisinger, Deborah Hogerman, Dace Madore, Ih Chang, Peter Paradiso, Frank Malinoski, Alan Kimura:

- Safety and immunogenicity of heptavalent pneumococcal vaccine conjugated to CRM197 in United States infants. *Pediatrics* 101, 604-611 (1998)
- 29. Matthew Snape, Kirsten Perrett, Karen Ford, Tessa John, David Pace, Ly-Mee Yu, Joanne Langley, Shelley McNeil, Peter Dull, Francesca Ceddia, Alessandra Anemona, Scott Halperin, Simon Dobson, Andrew Pollard: Immunogenicity of a tetravalent meningococcal glycoconjugate vaccine in infants: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 299, 173-184 (2008)
- 30. Katherine Hsu, Kimberly Shea, Abbie Stevenson, Stephen Pelton: Changing serotypes causing childhood invasive pneumococcal disease; Massachusetts, 2001-2007. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 29, 289-293 (2010)
- 31. Susan Huang, Virginia Hinrichsen, Abbie Stevenson, Sheryl Rifas-Shiman, Ken Kleinman, Stephen Pelton, Marc Lipsitch, William Hanage, Grace Lee, Jonathan Finkelstein: Continued impact of pneumococcal vaccine on carriage in young children. *Pediatrics* 124, e1-e11 (2009)
- 32. Wendy Hutchins, Geoarge Carlone MA Julie Westerink: Elderly immune response to a TI-2 antigen: Heavy and light chain use and bactericidal activity to *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup C polysaccharide. *J Infect Dis* 179, 1433-1440 (1999)
- 33. Andrew Artz, William Ershler, Dan Longo: Pneumococcal vaccination and revaccination of older adults: *Clin Microbiol Rev* 16, 308-18 (2003)
- 34. Andres de Roux, B. Schmoele-Thoma, George Siber, J G Hackell, A Kuhnke, N Ahlers, SA Baker, A Razmpour, EA Emini, PD Feinstein, WC Gruber, S Lockhart, O Burkhardt, T Welte, HM Lode: Comparison of pneumococcal conjugate polysaccharide and free polysaccharide in elderly adults: Conjugate vaccine elicits improved antibacterial immune responses and immunological memory. *Clin Infect Dis* 46, 1015-1023 (2008)
- 35. Mary Renshaw, Julie Rockwell, Andrew Gewirtz, Jacqueline Katz, Suryaprakash Sambhara: Impaired toll-like receptor expression and function in aging: *J Immunol* 169, 4697-4701 (2002)
- 36. Karen Miernyk, Jay Butler, Lisa Bulkow, Rosalyn Singleton, Thomas Hennessy, Catherine Dentinger, Helen Peters, Barbara Knutsen, Jack Hickel, Alan Parkinson: Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of pneumococcal polysaccharide and conjugate vaccines in Alaska native adults 55-70 years of age. *Clin Infect Dis* 49, 241-248 (2009)
- 37. I. Ridda, C. MacIntyre, R. Lindley, Z. Gao, J. Sullivan, F. Yuan, P. McIntyre: Immunological responses to pneumococcal vaccine in frail older people. *Vaccine* 27, 1628-1636 (2009)

- 38. Abdul Khan, Quanyi Chen, Zheng-Qi Wu, James Paton, Clifford Snapper: Both innate and type 1 humoral immunity to *Streptococcus pneumoniae* are mediated by MyD88 but differ in their relative levels of dependence on toll-like receptor 2. *Infect and Immun* 73, 298-307 (2005)
- 39. Sam Vasilevsky, Gouri Chattopadhyay, Jesus Colino, Tze-Jou Yeh, Quanyi Chen, Goutam Sen, Clifford Snapper: B and CD4+ T-cell expression of TLR2 is critical for optimal induction of a T-cell-dependent humoral immune response to intact *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Eur J Immunol* 38, 3316-3326 (2008)
- 40. Deborah Threadgill, Linda McCormick, Tera McCool, Neil Greenspan, John Schreiber: Mitogenic synthetic polynucleotides suppress the antibody response to a bacterial polysaccharide. *Vaccine* 16, 76-82 (1998)
- 41. Morgan Taillardet, Ghina Haffar, Paul Mondiere, Marie-Jeanne Asensio, Thomas Pleau-Pison, Nicolas Burdin, Thierry Defrance, Laurent Genestier: Toll-like receptor agonists allow generation of long-lasting antipneumococcal humoral immunity in response to a plain polysaccharide vaccine. *J Infect Dis* 202, 470-479 (2010)
- 42. Porter Anderson: Antibody responses to *Haemophilus influenzae* type b and diphtheria toxin induced by conjugates of oligosaccharides of the type b capsule with the nontoxic protein CRM₁₉₇. *Infect and Immun* 39, 233-238 (1983)
- 43. Dan Granoff, Sandra Holmes: Comparative immunogenicity of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b polysaccharide-protein conjugate vaccines. *Vaccine* 9, S30-34 (1991)
- 44. Paoli Massari, Philipp Henneke, Yu Ho, Eicke Latz, Douglas Golenbock, Lee Wetzler: Immune stimulation by neisserial porins is toll-like receptor 2 and MyD88 dependent. *J Immunol* 168, 1533-1537 (2002)
- 45. Eicke Latz, Jennifer Francko, Douglas T. Golenbock, John R. Schreiber: *Haemophilus influenzae* type b-outer membrane protein complex glycoconjugate vaccine induces cytokine production by engaging human toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and requires the presence of TLR2 for optimal immunogenicity. *J Immunol* 172, 2431-2438 (2004)
- 46. Zengzu Lai, John Schreiber: Outer membrane protein complex from meningococcus enhances the antipolysaccharide antibody response to pneumococcal CRM₁₉₇ conjugate vaccine. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 18, 724-729 (2011)
- 47. John McLay, Ethan Leonard, Sheryl Petersen, David Shapiro, Neil Greenspan, John Schreiber: γ3 gene-disrupted mice selectively deficient in the dominant IgG subclass made to bacterial polysaccharides. II. Increased susceptibility to fatal pneumococcal sepsis due to absence of anti-polysaccharide IgG3 is corrected by induction of anti-polysaccharide IgG1. *J Immunol* 168, 3437-3443 (2002)

- 48. Roger Perlmutter, Daniel Hansburg, David Briles, Robert Nicolotti, Joseph Davie: Subclass restriction of murine anti-carbohydrate antibodies: *J Immunol* 121, 566-572 (1978)
- 49. Penelope Shackelford, Dan Granoff, Susan Nelson, Mitchell Scott, Daniel Smith, Moon Nahm: Subclass distribution of human antibodies to *Haemophilus influenzae* type b capsular polysaccharide. *J Immunol* 138, 587-592 (1987)
- 50. Rose S. Chu, Tera McCool, Neil S. Greenspan, John R. Schreiber, Clifford V. Harding: CpG oligodeoxynucleotides act as adjuvants for pneumococcal polysaccharide-protein conjugate vaccines and enhance anti-polysaccharide immunoglobulin G2a and IgG3 antibodies. *Infect and Immun* 68, 1450-1456 (2000)
- 51. Goutam Sen, Quanyi Chen, Clifford Snapper: Immunization of aged mice with a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine combined with an unmethylated CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotide restores defective immunoglobulin G antipolysaccharide responses and specific CD4+-T-cell priming to young adult levels. *Infect and Immun* 74, 2177-2186 (2006)
- 52. Floris Fransen, Claire Boog, Jos van Putten, Peter van der Ley: Agonists of toll-like receptors 3, 4, 7, and 9 are candidates for use as adjuvants in an outer membrane vaccine against *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B. *Infect and Immun* 75, 5939-5946 (2007)
- 53. Qibo Zhang, Linda Bagrade, Ed Clarke, James C. Paton, Desmond A. Nunez, Adam Finn: Bacterial lipoproteins differentially regulate human primary and memory CD4+ T and B cell responses to pneumococcal protein antigens through toll-like receptor 2. *J Infect Dis* 201, 1753-1763 (2010)
- 54. Jamie Croxtall, Gillian Keating: Pneumococcal polysaccharide protein D-conjugate vaccine (Synflorix; PhiD-CV) *Pediatr Drugs* 11, 349-357 (2009)
- 55. Hila Amir-Kroll, Gabriel Nussbaum, Irum Cohen: Proteins and their derived peptides as carriers in a conjugate vaccine for *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: Self-heat shock protein 60 and tetanus toxoid: *J Immunol* 170, 6165-6171 (2003)
- 56. Markus Knuf, Frank Kowalzik, Dorothee Lieninger: Comparitive effects of carrier proteins on vaccine-induced immune response: *Vaccine* 29, 4881-4890 (2011)

Key Words: Toll like receptors, Polysaccharide capsules, Antibodies, T-independent antigens, Glycoconjugate vaccines, Review

Send correspondence to: John R. Schreiber, Floating Hospital for Children at Tufts Medical Center, 800 Washington St., Boston, MA 02111, Tel: 617.636.8031, Fax: 617.636.8391, E-mail: jschreiber@tuftsmedicalcenter.org